Assembly and function of the natural killer cell immune synapse

Pedro Roda-Navarro¹

¹Department of Systemic Cell Biology, Max Planck Institute of Molecular physiology, Otto-Hahn-Str. 11, D-44227 Dortmund, Germany

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

- 2. Introduction
- 3. Assembly of the natural killer cell immune synapse (NK-IS)
 - 3.1. The inhibitory NK-IS
 - 3.2. The cytotoxic NK-IS
 - *3.2.1. Early events during the cNK-IS assembly*
 - 3.2.2. Supramolecular organization of the mature cNK-IS
 - 3.3. The activating NK-IS
- 4. Physiological significance of the NK-IS
- 5. Microspectroscopy techniques for the study of the NK-IS
- 6. Perspective
- 7. Acknowledgements
- 8. References

1. ABSTRACT

During the natural killer (NK) cell immune response, cytoskeletal components, adhesion and signaling molecules and ligand-specific receptors are involved in the formation of the natural killer cell immune synapse (NK-IS), a highly organized supramolecular structure assembled at the interface of the interacting cells that regulates the NK cell activation and decides the target cell fate. In this review the current state on knowledge about the organization and physio-pathological function of the inhibitory, cytotoxic and activating NK-IS is presented. Moreover, it briefly summarizes microspectroscopy techniques suitable for live cell imaging of the dynamic biochemical processes, which achieve the coordinated NK cell immune responses.

2. INTRODUCTION

Natural killer (NK) cells are essential cytotoxic lymphocytes of the innate immunity able to directly lyse tumour cells, virus infected cells and other pathogens. Furthermore, by secreting cytokines and chemokines, as well as interacting with other immune cells, such as T lymphocytes or dendritic cells (DC), they also regulate both the innate and the adaptive immune responses (1, 2). NK cell function is regulated by cytokines, chemokines, the contact with the extracellular matrix (ECM), and a balance of intracellular signals triggered from the cell surface by a diverse group of activating and inhibitory receptors upon the specific binding of ligands expressed on surrounding cells (3). As predicted by the *missing self* hypothesis, inhibition is mainly mediated by the specific binding of the

Assembly and function of the natural killer cell immune synapse



Figure 1. Organization of the cNK-IS, iNK-IS and aNK-IS. Schematic representation of the synapse face arranged inside the red boxes. Main components present at the central (c)SMAC/SMIC and peripheral (p)SMAC/SMIC are detailed at the early events and mature state of the different synapses described in the text.

MHC class I molecules by the killer cell immunoglobulin-like (Ig-L) receptors (KIR) and the NKG2A/CD94 lectin-like (L-L) receptor heterodimer (4). These receptors switch activating signals off by recruiting the SH2-containing protein tyrosine phosphatase SHP-1 to an immunoreceptor tyrosine based inhibitory motif (ITIM) placed in their cytoplasmic tails (5, 6). A wide repertoire of Ig-L and L-L activating receptors, which bind different adaptor molecules in order to form activating complexes, has been described. The activating receptor complexes in the Ig-L group include the natural cytotoxicity receptors (NCR), NKp46/CD3ζ, NKp30/CD3ζ and NKp44/DAP12, the Fc receptor CD16/CD3ζ/FcyR, the signaling lymphocyte activating molecules (SLAM), 2B4/LAT (Linker for activation of T cells), NTB-A and CRACC, and the activating KIR. The L-L group is mainly represented by NKG2D/DAP10, CD94/NKG2C/DAP12 and NKp80 (7-9). Upon the binding of the specific ligands, activating signals are triggered by immunoreceptor tyrosine based activation motifs (ITAMs) present at the cytoplasmic tail of the adaptor molecules DAP12, CD3ζ and FcyR, by the PI3K and Grb2 binding motif present in DAP10, by the tyrosine based motifs present at the cytoplasmic tail of LAT and by the immunoreceptor tyrosine-based switch motifs (ITSM) present at the cytoplasmic tail of 2B4, NTB-A and CRACC. The cellular ligands described for some of these receptors and the signaling molecules recruited upon ligand binding are summarized in the table 1.

In 1999 two important contributions were made by Sentman and co-workers (10): First, inhibitory receptors altered the interaction with target cells, a fact that showed the significance of receptor-ligand binding for the fate of cells after the contact. Secondly, cytotoxic and noncytotoxic interactions were simultaneously performed by single NK cells, which demonstrated the existence of a spatio-temporal regulation of activating and inhibitory signals during the NK cell response. These results posed a new question: How do surface receptors and signaling molecules achieve this spatio-temporal regulation that eventually decides the fate of the target cells? In answering this question, the immune synapse (IS) (11) has emerged as a highly organized supramolecular cluster at the interface of contacting immune cells that allow the intercellular communication needed for a coordinated immune response to be obtained (12). This review will focus on the organization and physiological significance of the NK cell immune synapse (NK-IS) established at the cytotoxic and non-cytotoxic interactions formed during the NK cell "social" life.

3. ASSEMBLY OF THE NATURAL KILLER CELL IMMUNE SYNAPSE (NK-IS)

Receptor tyrosine phosphorylation of ITIMs and ITAMs by Lck is an early common phenomenon necessary for both the inhibition and activation of NK cell effector functions respectively (13). However, the different spatio-temporal organization of supramolecular activating or inhibitory clusters (called SMAC or SMIC respectively) will regulate the NK cell cytotoxic activity and therefore the eventual fate of the target cell (14, 15). Recently, the activating, non-cytotoxic, NK-IS formed between resting NK cells and mature (m) DC has been described (16). The organization of inhibitory (i), cytotoxic (c) and activating (a) NK-IS (Figure 1) is described below.

3.1. The inhibitory NK-IS

The NK-IS was first described in 1999 during the *missing-self* recognition (17). Exogenously expressed KIR

and their specific MHC class I ligands clustered and colocalized at the contact area formed during NK cell-Target cell interactions. Importantly, later studies done by Dupont and co-workers have shown that very early after the interaction of primary activated NK cells with MHC class I positive cells, the constituted iNK-IS is characterized by a central single cluster of the phosphatase SHP-1 and KIR (cSMIC) surrounded by a peripheral ring of talin and the aLB2 integrin leukocyte function associated antigen 1 (LFA-1) (pSMIC) (14, 15, 18). The activating signaling molecule Lck is seen dispersed in two or three clusters at the cSMIC by this time, consistent with the requirement of early tyrosine phosphorylation for KIR inhibition. However, this accumulation is rapidly dissolved to multiple small clusters. Other signaling molecules such as ZAP-70. SLP-76, PLC- γ , Itk or PKC- θ are not recruited to the iNK-IS. The microtubule organizing centre (MTOC) and secretory lysosomes (SL) are not polarized to the iNK-IS while talin accumulation is dissolved within 5 min of interaction. Then, although inhibition mediated by KIR involves the cortical cytoskeleton remodelling for the active formation of SMIC of signaling molecules, noncytotoxic conjugates are short lived probably due to an absence of further downstream signaling. In fact, talin, Lck and SHP-1 do not show significant accumulation after 10 min of non-cytotoxic interactions, which suggests completion of the self recognition (Figure 1).

Recently Davis and co-workers have shown that although inhibitory KIR are clustered across the iNK-IS, phosphorylation of these receptors are restricted to discrete microclusters along with Lck clusters (figure 1) (19). Thus, one hypothesis for NK cell inhibition could be that Lck recruited to the membrane by activating receptors would be able to trans-phosphorylate KIR molecules engaged with the specific MHC class I molecule at the iNK-IS. Thus, the inhibitory action of KIR would be locally focused at the early interface of the NK cell-target cell interaction where activating signals are triggered (Figure 2A). Only the absence of MHC class I on target cells would then allow the eventual formation of the cytotoxic NK-IS (Figure 2B-3).

3.2. The cytotoxic NK-IS

The cNK-IS organization resembles the one previously described for cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL), which is characterized by a cSMAC that contains a secretory domain, along with a signaling region where the T cell receptor (TCR) accumulates, and a pSMAC enriched in f-actin. CTL acts to clear virally infected and tumour cells via this so called secretory synapse (20). The supramolecular organization at the early and mature cNK-IS is described below.

3.2.1. Early events during the cNK-IS assembly

The early events during the NK cell immunosurveillance are summarized in figure 2B. The first step during the formation of the cNK-IS is the adhesion process mainly mediated by LFA-1. Signaling mediated by LFA-1 induces the tyrosine phosphorylation and activation of Vav-1, which lead to the polymerization of actin and clustering of lipid rafts (21, 22). These events are essential

for the final assembly of the mature cNK-IS. In fact, activation of Vav-1/Rac pathway, which precedes actin polymerization, also regulates the generation of cellmediated killing by CTL (23). Early recruitment of the SLP-76 has also been observed preceding the polarization of the MTOC and SL that occurs within the first 5 min (18). The recruitment of the SLP-76 could be involved in "inside-out" signaling for integrin activation, the consequently sustaining the adhesion during cytotoxic interactions (24). Remarkably, early talin and LFA-1 accumulation is a common phenomenon initiated during conjugate formation, independently of the nature of the target (Figure 2A-B), however, as pointed out in section 3.1, KIR inhibitory action block further downstream signals leading to unstable, short lived conjugates (see also section 4).

Another early event is the formation of Lck small clusters at the synapse (presumably recruited to activating receptors), that will eventually culminate after 5 min of interaction with the formation of one unique cluster of this signaling molecule at the cSMAC surrounded by a ring of talin and f-acting at the pSMAC of the mature cNK-IS (Figure 1). Lck phosphorylation of ITAMs at the cytoplasmic tail of activating receptors lead to the recruitment and activation of Syk kinases, which subsequently induces the activation of PI3K and the eventual polarization of the MTOC and SL, the activation of SLP-76, WASP and Vav-1 complexes, and the phosphorylation of LAT and other adaptor molecules (25-27).

Another important molecule during the early events is the receptor $\hat{2}B4$ (28). Accumulation of 2B4 at the synapse occurs just 30 sec after the cell-cell contact preceding the MTOC polarization and remarkably remains at the synapse over 20 min of interaction. This early accumulation of 2B4 underscores the role of this molecule in cell-cell adhesion and NK cell activation. In addition, the adaptor molecule SAP (SLAM-associated protein) also accumulates at the cNK-IS and co-localizes with 2B4 during this prolonged time, which demonstrates the relevance of this adaptor molecule for the cytotoxic process in NK cells (29). In this regard, SAP is encoded by the SH2D1A gene, which is mutated in patients with the inherited immunodeficiency X-linked lymphoproliferative disease (XLP), a human disorder characterized by a dysfunction of the T/B-cell interactions and NK cell function, leading to a reduced ability to control the Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection (30, 31). NK cells deficient in SAP are not able to properly trigger activating signals upon 2B4 engagement with CD48. It has been postulated that SAP competes for the binding of SHP-1 to the cytoplasmic tail of 2B4, allowing the activating signals to be properly triggered (Figure 2B) (32, 33). Moreover, SAP is also necessary for the recruitment of Fyn to the cytoplasmic tail of 2B4 (34). The essential role of SAP on the cytotoxic synapse formation has been demonstrated in SAP-deficient CTL. These cells present a defective polarization of perforin, GM1 and 2B4 to the synapse, which leads to a defective lytic activity against EBV infected cells (35). Thus, SAP may also control the assembly of the cNK-IS



Figure 2. Early events during the NK cell *missing-self* recognition (A) or activation (B). (A) Early Adhesion events and activating (act.) ligand recognition induce the activation of Lck, which trans-phosphorylates in turn the ITIM motifs present at the KIR upon MHC class I engagement. As a consequence a docking site for SHP-1 is created. SHP-1 desphosphorylates and inactivates Vav-1, which is essential for actin polymerization, promoting then the early detachment from the target cell. Grey objects show the blocked pathways upon Vav-1 desphosphorylation. (B) The absence of physiological levels of MHC class I on target cells avoids the recruitment of KIR and SHP-1 and then signals for cytoskeleton rearrangement and inside-out integrin signaling freely occurs. The MTOC and SL can then polarize to the contact site for the eventual establishment of the mature cNK-IS. LR: lipid rafts. Red arrows: On going pathways. The black arrow indicates the directional movement of the MTOC and SL to the cSMAC. SAP competes the SHP-1 binding to 2B4 (grey arrow).

Estructure	Receptor	Adaptor molecule	Signaling molecules	Cellular Ligand
L-L	NKG2D	DAP10	PI3K, Grb2	MICA-B, ULBPs
	CD94/NKG2C	DAP12	Lck, Syk	HLA-E
	NKp80	-	-	AICL
Ig-L	NKp30	CD3ζ	Lck, Syk	Viral hemaglutinins
	NKp44	DAP12	Lck, Syk	Viral hemaglutinins
	NKp46	FcεRIγ, CD3ζ	Lck, Syk	-
	KIR2DS	DAP12	Lck, Syk	HLA-I
	2B4	LAT	EAT-2, SAP, Fyn, 3BP2 Grb2, Plcγ	CD48
	NTB-A	_	EAT-2, SAP	NTB-A
	CRACC	-	EAT-2, SAP?	CRACC

 Table 1. Activating receptor complexes

The two families of receptors are colour-coded (L-L: lectin-like receptors; Ig-L: Immunoglobulin-like receptors). Signaling molecules recruited to the cytoplasmic tails and the specific cellular ligands involved in the triggering of the NK cell cytotoxic activity are enumerated in the fourth and fifth columns. The adaptor molecules DAP12, FccRI γ and CD3 ζ contain ITAM motifs, which are phosphorylated by Lck upon ligand binding. This process generates a docking site for the recruitment of Syk kinases. DAP10 contains the YxNM motif for the binding of PI3K and Grb2. Currently there is controversy about the recruitment of SAP by the ITSM motifs present in CRACC. The adaptor molecule LAT recruits PLC γ and Grb2 upon the engagement of CD48 by 2B4.

since it is able to bind 2B4 and block the binding of SHP-1. Another human disease, the Wiskott Aldrich syndrome (WAS), is characterized by an altered formation of the cNK-IS (36). As in the case of SAP, the WAS protein (WASp) also accumulates at the cNK-IS and is, along with SLP-76 and Vav-1, an important signaling molecule, promoting the polymerization of actin at the early cNK-IS (figure 2B).

3.2.2. Supramolecular organization of the mature cNK-IS

The NK cell cytotoxic process is mediated by the polarized exocytosis to the synaptic cleft of SL containing perforin, granzyme B (GB) and Fas-L, which trigger the apoptotic pathways in target cells by the binding of GB receptors and Fas (37-40). Kinesin driven SL moves along the microtubules and reach the MTOC at the contact site. MTOC polarization to the synapse assures the secretion of SL to a specific target cell by the restriction of the delivery of lytic substances into the cSMAC (38). This space is confined by the pSMAC, the area enriched in talin, actin and LFA-1 that is also responsible for the adhesion platform required for stable conjugates to be obtained (figure 3). The recruitment of the MTOC starts within the first 5 minutes of the interaction, before the redistribution of talin to the pSMAC and the mature synapse is constituted. Interestingly, a fraction of signaling molecules clustered at the cSMAC in the mature cNK-IS, including Lck, Fyn, ZAP-70, Pyk2, paxilin and Grb2, is localized around the MTOC (14, 41-43). Others such as Jnk, Rac, Cdc42 and Vav-1 are localized on the microtubules (44-46). It is then plausible to speculate that the reorientation of the MTOC is also able to transport signaling molecules to the synapse and therefore helps to keep high concentrations of these molecules at the contact site, which is essential for sustaining activating signals and the eventual killing of the target. An important role of some of these signaling molecules in MTOC polarization to the synapse has also been demonstrated (47).

By contrast to CTL, that trigger the lytic process upon engagement of only one receptor, NK cells express many different activating receptors (Table 1). The behavior of only a few of them during cNK-IS organization has been

studied. That is the case of NKG2D in activated human NK cells (48). Experiments done in the NKL cell line and primary activated NK cells have shown that the expression of the NKG2D ligand MICB on susceptible MHC class I negative target cells induce the clustering of the NKG2D/DAP10 receptor complex at the cSMAC surrounded by a ring of f-acting at the pSMAC (Figure 1), which suggests that the clustering at the cSMAC is mainly mediated by the signaling triggered by this receptor. Since lipid rafts accumulate at the NK-IS independently of the NKG2D ligand expression on target cells, it is plausible to speculate the existence of different mechanisms for the recruitment of lipid rafts and NKG2D to the NK-IS. Recently, the PI3K binding site present in DAP10 (YxxM) has been found to be required for the recruitment of this molecule to the cNK-IS (49). Interestingly, this motif is necessary for the NKG2D endocytosis in B cells lines and activated NK cells as well as for the traffic of DAP10 to SL polarized to the cNK-IS (50) (Roda-Navarro and Reyburn, in preparation). Upon target cell recognition, endosomes containing NKG2D/DAP10 are polarized toward the intercellular contact and interestingly only the engagement of NKG2D by MICB expressed on target cells trigger the polarized exocytosis of this intracellular NKG2D/DAP10 at the cNK-IS (Roda-Navarro and Reyburn, in preparation). We then propose this polarized exocytosis as a new mechanism for receptor recruitment to the synapse, that may constitutes a checkpoint for NK cell activation, in a similar way that CTLA-4 is secreted in SL to the T cell synapse in a signal strength-dependent manner (51). The polarized exocytosis of SL containing NKG2D/DAP10 may also help the unidirectional delivery of lytic substances to MICB expressing target cells, as was previously postulated for the TCR at the cytotoxic synapse constituted by CTL and APC (52, 53).

cNK-IS formed between resting ex-vivo isolated NK cells and MHC class I negative target cells have also been found however the reduced lytic activity shown by these cells. Initially, perforin was found at the cSMAC surrounded by integrins, f-acting and CD2 at the pSMAC of this mature synapse observed after 30 minutes of interaction. Moreover, pSMAC organization and perforin polarization to the cSMAC were found to be sequential processes, which require actin and tubulin, respectively (54). In other experiments, cell conjugates formed between NK cells and target cells expressing the 2B4 ligand CD48 showed the accumulation of the activating receptor complex 2B4/LAT at the cSMAC, surrounded by a pSMAC characterized by the accumulation of talin in the NK cell and ICAM-1 on the target cell. Moreover, CD48 also accumulated at this synapse (29). The topography of this synapse observed at 5 minutes of the conjugate formation is consistent with the recruitment of 2B4 and LAT to lipid rafts observed in different systems, and with the organization of signaling molecules (cSMAC) and LFA-1 (pSMAC) observed at the cNK-IS in activated NK cells (14, 55).

3.3. The activating NK-IS

The IS has been described during the interaction between CD4+ helper, CD8+ CTL and B cells with antigen presenting cells (APC) (11, 56, 57) as a platform for the extended interactions required to trigger the differentiation of naïve T and B cells to their effector state. Recently it has become clear that resting NK cells require activation by DC to differentiate to their full function effector state (58, 59). This process is dependent on the contact between NK and DC cells, which importantly can be observed in vivo in sites of inflammation and lymph nodes (60, 61). Upon activation by DC, NK cells can efficiently produce cytokines, proliferate and reach the highest cytotoxic state. This process is especially important in the CD56^{bright} CD16⁻ subset that only acquires cytotoxicity upon prolonged activation (61). Among the factors required for NK cell activation by DC are the IFN- α , IL12, IL18 and IL15 and, interestingly, the polarization to the interface of NK-DC contacts of IL12, IL18 and adhesion molecules has been observed after long interaction time (Figure 1) (59, 62).

Notwithstanding prior data, the early events occurring at the NK-IS formed between resting NK cells and MHC class I^{bright} mDC have only been investigated in a recent study (16). This study shows the formation of a regulatory NK-IS, which does not trigger cytolysis. Resting NK cell activation is mediated by the rapid organization of this NK-IS containing central but separated clusters of inhibitory KIR, CD94 and IL15-R surrounded by a ring of talin and LFA-1 at the periphery (Figure 1). The inhibitory receptor/MHC class I interaction assures the protection of the mDC from the NK cell lytic activity while the IL15-R/IL15 binding induce NK cell survival. Although the resultant NK cell activation, as demonstrated by CD69 induction and triggering of calcium fluxes, this synapse presents features of an iNK-IS such as un-polarized Perforin and clustering of KIR and MHC class I that do not allow the cytolitic process to be triggered. Therefore, this activating interaction should be defined as a new NK-IS, namely here the activating NK-IS.

A reciprocal regulatory function in NK cell homotipic contacts, and in NK-macrophages interactions have also been described (63, 64). Overall, the aNK-IS constituted with different immune cells contributes to the NK cell differentiation from the naïve to the effector state able to exert an efficient Natural Killing. Thus, the aNK-IS is a nascent research field that deserves future work.

4. PHYSIOLOGICAL SIGNIFICANCE OF THE NK-IS

The IS seems to be a platform where surface receptors and intracellular signaling molecules arrive at so as to exert their coordinated functions in order to achieve the cellular response: differentiation from naïve to effector states, *missing self* recognition, or the spatially restricted cytotoxicity observed in CTL and NK cells. Therefore, the functional impact of the IS vary depending on the nature of contacting cells and the physiological circumstances where it takes place.

As previously discussed, the NK cell tolerance toward healthy tissues is achieved by the missing self recognition. Ligation of either inhibitory KIR or the CD94/NKG2A heterodimer abolishes the redistribution of the multimolecular signaling complex associated with lipid rafts to the cNK-IS (65, 66). Vav-1 dephosphorylation has been proposed as the mechanism for inhibition of the cellular cytotoxicity (67). In this regard, the NK-IS organizes in close proximity activating receptors, necessary for Lck activation, and inhibitory receptors, which recruit SHP-1 upon being trans-phosphorylated by Lck. The close proximity of SHP-1 and Vav-1, which becomes phosphorylated upon LFA-1/ICAM-1 engagement, allows its desphosphorylation (figure 2A). Conversely, the absence of SHP-1 will allow the acting polimeryzation and the inside-out integrin signaling needed for the recruitment of lipid rafts and activating receptors, and for the formation of the tight adhesion, respectively.

The aberrant response of NK cells lacking components of the organized cNK-IS in a healthy situation, such as SAP or WASp (35, 36), clearly demonstrate the significance of the synapse for a normal NK cell immune response to be obtained. The most recent contribution to the field showing that the synapse organization is directly responsible for the cellular response has been the description of the aNK-IS (section 3.3), where clusters of the KIR/MHC-I engagement promotes the target cell protection simultaneously with the NK cell activation by the recruitment of IL15-R (16).

It is also proposed that the IS offers checkpoints for lymphocyte inhibition and activation. The intensity and quality of the signal expressed on the target cell will regulate the recruitment of inhibitory and activating signaling molecules to the synapse. Regulated, polarized exocytosis to the synapse of molecules such as CTLA-4 in T cells and NKG2D/DAP10 in NK cells (51) (Roda-Navarro and Reyburn, in preparation) suggests one cellular mechanism for the achievement of these checkpoints. This is possible because of the MTOC and SL polarization to the synapse. Interestingly, when one NK cell simultaneously interacts with a susceptible and a resistant target cell the MTOC only polarizes to the former target, which enables its selective cytolysis by the regulated delivery of SL (38, 68). This constitutes the cellular mechanism explaining how activation and inhibition are spatially and temporally restricted (10). Therefore, the NK-IS is responsible for this spatial and temporally confined NK cell function.



Figure 3. Organization of the mature cNK-IS. The MTOC has already polarized to the contact site along with the associated signaling molecules, and the ring of integrins and cytosqueletal components surrounding activating receptors is already organized. Polarized secretion of SL containing perforin, granzyme B (GB), Fas-L and NKG2D/DAP10 to the cSMAC triggers the apoptotic pathways in the target cell upon the engagement of GB receptors and Fas. Black arrows indicate the directional movement of signaling molecules on the microtubules (MT) and SL to the cSMAC. LR: lipid rafts.

As a phenomenon associated to the synapse assembly, the intercellular transfer of proteins is a new and potentially fruitful research field (extensively reviewed in (69-71). It has been proposed to be involved, for example, in the initiation and termination of immune responses or in the regulation of the extent of the lymphocyte response (48, 72, 73). Acquisition of external proteins can also alter functional capabilities or add to the cell new features (74). For example, NK cells are infected by the EBV only upon synaptic acquisition of the receptor for the virus entry CD21 (75). Then, pathogens can also take advantage of the synapse assembly. This is also shown by the viral synapse organized in lymphocytes infected with the HTLV-1 virus, which favors the spreading of the infection (76).

Immune cells can be connected through long distances by the formation of membrane connective structures (MCS)/nanotubes (10, 29, 48, 77-79). In NK cells it has been demonstrated that these structures are formed in cytotoxic interactions when a NK cell detaches from the target cell (29). The strong adhesion between the

NK and the target cell may be the force originating these membrane tethers. Interestingly, MCS/nanotubes are not observed in non-cytotoxic interactions. Although it is not clear what is the function of these structures, surface receptors, intracellular organelles and calcium fluxes are transported inside them (48, 78-81). Importantly, activating receptors transfer from NK cells to target cells at the distal end of MCS/nanotubes, which indicates that they can offer a mechanism for the intercellular protein transfer (29, 69). Finally, viral proteins are also transported through nanotubes formed during the detachment of T cell conjugates (77).

5. MICROSPECTROSCOPY TECHNIQUES FOR THE STUDY OF THE NK-IS

3D fluorescence imaging microscopy has been mainly used to get descriptive information about the organization of the IS, including the NK-IS. This technology is limited by a spatial resolution of a few hundred nm, due to the diffractive nature of the light, and an acquisition time that depends on the illumination system used. Since the activity of proteins in living cells is confined by spatial and temporal restrictions, microscopy approaches improving the spatial resolution beyond the diffraction limit and adjusting the acquisition times to the biological process are necessary. Microspectroscopy, which combines different microscope set-ups with fluorescence biosensors, is already giving us information about the spatio-temporal regulation of protein activities, proteinprotein interactions, and the environment surrounding proteins in living cells (82).

Fluorescence Resonance Energy Transfer (FRET) measurements provides a useful tool for detection and quantification of protein interactions in living cells. Interacting proteins should be located in close proximity with a maximun separation of around 6 nm (82). This resolution may help not only to precisely know where signaling pathways are switched on and off, but also the activation state of enzymes regulated by, for example, postranslational modifications (83, 84). Although there are different methods to measure FRET, quantifying the lifetime of the donor chromophore by Fluorescence Lifetime Imaging Microscopy (FLIM) is the most robust method described (85). Importantly, FLIM is also suitable to get information about the environment where proteins reside. Advantages of FRET are illustrated in different works: The well-established clustering of lipid rafts at IS has been recently challenged by Nichols and co-workers in a study where the clustering of GPIanchored proteins at T cell synapse was not detected by approach (86). The spatially this restricted phosphorylation of KIR in microclusers at the iNK-IS (section 3.1) has also been observed using this approach (19).

Other techniques such as Total Internal Reflection Microscopy (TIRFM) (87) and Stimulated Emission Detection (STED) (88) are able to obtain a resolution of about 100 nm, and therefore are useful for studying processes like the organization of membranes and endo- or exocytosis during endosome trafficking.

The diffusion properties, interaction and aggregation of molecules can be studied by Fluorescence Correlation and Cross-Correlation Spectroscopy (FCS and FCCS) (89, 90). These techniques along with Fluorescence Recovery after Photobleaching (FRAP) (91) are suitable to study the dynamics of molecules in living cells. Although only average values can be obtained by these methods, Single Particle Tracking (SPT) (92) allows the trajectory of a particle, such a quantum dot bound to a small number of molecules (1-10), to be studied.

New Electron Microscopy (EM) methodologies such as GRAB (GFP Recognition After Photobleaching) (93) and Wet Scanning EM (94) have been described. The former detects electrodense precipitates formed by GFP upon radiation exposure and produces high quality EM to reveal detailed spatial information, whilst the latter allows the examination of fully hydrated samples with a resolution up to 20 nm. Improvements to the imaging techniques, combined with powerful computer methods for data analysis will be required to understand the dynamic functional connectivity among the components of signaling networks, which regulates the IS organization allowing then the coordinated immune response.

6. PERSPECTIVE

Almost 10 years after the discovery of the NK-IS, many of the contributions published are fair descriptions of its supramolecular organization. Today there are several major challenges to be addressed in this research field:

- To understand the molecular mechanisms for the IS assembly. Endosome polarized exocytosis described for the TCR, CTLA-4 and Fas-L (37, 51, 52), and association with lipid rafts or tetraspanins (95-97), which help the lateral organization of signaling molecules, have been proposed as mechanisms for the IS assembly. Another hypothesis proposed is that the distribution of surface molecules into distinct domains is determined by the length of the extracellular domain (98, 99). The recruitment of signaling molecules by these and other mechanisms, such as cytosolic diffusion and motor proteins, require further study.

- To understand the significance of the IS and the intercellular protein transfer. At this point, protein transfer, that increases the cellular proteome, is especially intriguing. As previously discussed, proteins acquired promote changes in cellular behaviour, can be re-presented to other cells to terminate or sustain immune responses, or can help to promote viral infection propagation. Moreover, synaptic intercellular transfer of molecules could assists cell-cell dissociation in order to get an efficient immune response (29, 100). All these hypotheses should be further tested.

- To verify, in vivo, the observations performed by in vitro studies. The T cell synapse has been observed to form in vivo during the killing of virus infected astrocytes by CTL (101, 102). In addition, MHC class I acquisition by NK cells has also been observed to occur in vivo (103). However, it has not been studied so far the NK cell immune response in the 3D environment found in tissues and whether synaptic protein transfer and MCS/nanotubes formation play any essential role in vivo. How NK cells are activated/primed by contact with other cells, ECM components, or gradients of soluble factors during the recruitment to inflamatory sites also deserve further investigation.

- To study the spatio-temporal regulation of the activity of signaling components (kinases, phosphatases, GTPases, etc...), and describe and quantify the functional connections among them. This will facilitate our understanding of how the NK cell immune response is orchestrated and how this precise regulation is altered during pathological processes.

7. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I apologise to all investigators whose studies were not cited in this article. I would like to thank Dr Elena Fernández-Ruiz and Prof Hugh Reyburn for the support during my work in their laboratories at the "Unidad de Biologia Molecular" (Hospital de la Princesa, Madrid, Spain) and Department of Pathology (University of Cambridge, UK) respectively, and the funds obtained from the "Comunidad Autonoma de Madrid" and "Ministerio de Educacion y Ciencia (España)" and the University of Cambridge (UK).

8. REFERENCES

1. Moretta, L., G. Ferlazzo, M. C. Mingari, G. Melioli & A. Moretta: Human natural killer cell function and their interactions with dendritic cells. *Vaccine*, 21 Suppl 2, S38-42 (2003)

2. Zitvogel, L., M. Terme, C. Borg & G. Trinchieri: Dendritic cell-NK cell cross-talk: regulation and physiopathology. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol*, 298, 157-74 (2006)

3. Lanier, L. L.: Activating and inhibitory NK cell receptors. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, 452, 13-8 (1998)

4. Karre, K.: NK cells, MHC class I molecules and the missing self. *Scand J Immunol*, 55, 221-8 (2002)

5. Burshtyn, D. N., A. S. Lam, M. Weston, N. Gupta, P. A. Warmerdam & E. O. Long: Conserved residues aminoterminal of cytoplasmic tyrosines contribute to the SHP-1mediated inhibitory function of killer cell Ig-like receptors. *J Immunol*, 162, 897-902 (1999)

6. Carretero, M., G. Palmieri, M. Llano, V. Tullio, A. Santoni, D. E. Geraghty & M. Lopez-Botet: Specific engagement of the CD94/NKG2-A killer inhibitory receptor by the HLA-E class Ib molecule induces SHP-1 phosphatase recruitment to tyrosine-phosphorylated NKG2-A: evidence for receptor function in heterologous transfectants. *Eur J Immunol*, 28, 1280-91 (1998)

7. Lanier, L. L.: On guard--activating NK cell receptors. *Nat Immunol*, 2, 23-7 (2001)

8. Claus, M., S. Meinke, R. Bhat & C. Watzl: Regulation of NK cell activity by 2B4, NTB-A and CRACC. *Front Biosci*, 13, 956-65 (2008)

9. Moretta, A., C. Bottino, M. Vitale, D. Pende, C. Cantoni, M. C. Mingari, R. Biassoni & L. Moretta: Activating receptors and coreceptors involved in human natural killer cell-mediated cytolysis. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 19, 197-223 (2001)

10. Eriksson, M., G. Leitz, E. Fallman, O. Axner, J. C. Ryan, M. C. Nakamura & C. L. Sentman: Inhibitory receptors alter natural killer cell interactions with target

cells yet allow simultaneous killing of susceptible targets. J Exp Med, 190, 1005-12 (1999)

11. Monks, C. R., B. A. Freiberg, H. Kupfer, N. Sciaky & A. Kupfer: Three-dimensional segregation of supramolecular activation clusters in T cells. *Nature*, 395, 82-6 (1998)

12. Davis, D. M., T. Igakura, F. E. McCann, L. M. Carlin, K. Andersson, B. Vanherberghen, A. Sjostrom, C. R. Bangham & P. Hoglund: The protean immune cell synapse: a supramolecular structure with many functions. *Semin Immunol*, 15, 317-24 (2003)

13. Vivier, E., J. A. Nunes & F. Vely: Natural killer cell signaling pathways. *Science*, 306, 1517-9 (2004)

14. Vyas, Y. M., K. M. Mehta, M. Morgan, H. Maniar, L. Butros, S. Jung, J. K. Burkhardt & B. Dupont: Spatial organization of signal transduction molecules in the NK cell immune synapses during MHC class I-regulated noncytolytic and cytolytic interactions. *J Immunol*, 167, 4358-67 (2001)

15. Vyas, Y. M., H. Maniar, C. E. Lyddane, M. Sadelain & B. Dupont: Ligand binding to inhibitory killer cell Ig-like receptors induce colocalization with Src homology domain 2-containing protein tyrosine phosphatase 1 and interruption of ongoing activation signals. *J Immunol*, 173, 1571-8 (2004)

16. Brilot, F., T. Strowig, S. M. Roberts, F. Arrey & C. Munz: NK cell survival mediated through the regulatory synapse with human DCs requires IL-15Ralpha. *J Clin Invest*, 117, 3316-29 (2007)

17. Davis, D. M., I. Chiu, M. Fassett, G. B. Cohen, O. Mandelboim & J. L. Strominger: The human natural killer cell immune synapse. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 96, 15062-7 (1999)

18. Vyas, Y. M., H. Maniar & B. Dupont: Cutting edge: differential segregation of the SRC homology 2-containing protein tyrosine phosphatase-1 within the early NK cell immune synapse distinguishes noncytolytic from cytolytic interactions. *J Immunol*, 168, 3150-4 (2002)

19. Treanor, B., P. M. Lanigan, S. Kumar, C. Dunsby, I. Munro, E. Auksorius, F. J. Culley, M. A. Purbhoo, D. Phillips, M. A. Neil, D. N. Burshtyn, P. M. French & D. M. Davis: Microclusters of inhibitory killer immunoglobulinlike receptor signaling at natural killer cell immunological synapses. *J Cell Biol*, 174, 153-61 (2006)

20. Stinchcombe, J. C., G. Bossi, S. Booth & G. M. Griffiths: The immunological synapse of CTL contains a secretory domain and membrane bridges. *Immunity*, 15, 751-61 (2001)

21. Barber, D. F., M. Faure & E. O. Long: LFA-1 contributes an early signal for NK cell cytotoxicity. *J Immunol*, 173, 3653-9 (2004)

22. Riteau, B., D. F. Barber & E. O. Long: Vavl phosphorylation is induced by beta2 integrin engagement on natural killer cells upstream of actin cytoskeleton and lipid raft reorganization. *J Exp Med*, 198, 469-74 (2003)

23. Billadeau, D. D., K. M. Brumbaugh, C. J. Dick, R. A. Schoon, X. R. Bustelo & P. J. Leibson: The Vav-Rac1 pathway in cytotoxic lymphocytes regulates the generation of cell-mediated killing. *J Exp Med*, 188, 549-59 (1998)

24. Peterson, E. J., M. L. Woods, S. A. Dmowski, G. Derimanov, M. S. Jordan, J. N. Wu, P. S. Myung, Q. H. Liu, J. T. Pribila, B. D. Freedman, Y. Shimizu & G. A. Koretzky: Coupling of the TCR to integrin activation by Slap-130/Fyb. *Science*, 293, 2263-5 (2001)

25. Vyas, Y. M., H. Maniar & B. Dupont: Visualization of signaling pathways and cortical cytoskeleton in cytolytic and noncytolytic natural killer cell immune synapses. *Immunol Rev*, 189, 161-78 (2002)

26. MacFarlane, A. W. t. & K. S. Campbell: Signal transduction in natural killer cells. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol*, 298, 23-57 (2006)

27. Tassi, I., J. Klesney-Tait & M. Colonna: Dissecting natural killer cell activation pathways through analysis of genetic mutations in human and mouse. *Immunol Rev*, 214, 92-105 (2006)

28. Boles, K. S., H. Nakajima, M. Colonna, S. S. Chuang, S. E. Stepp, M. Bennett, V. Kumar & P. A. Mathew: Molecular characterization of a novel human natural killer cell receptor homologous to mouse 2B4. *Tissue Antigens*, 54, 27-34 (1999)

29. Roda-Navarro, P., M. Mittelbrunn, M. Ortega, D. Howie, C. Terhorst, F. Sanchez-Madrid & E. Fernandez-Ruiz: Dynamic redistribution of the activating 2B4/SAP complex at the cytotoxic NK cell immune synapse. *J Immunol*, 173, 3640-6 (2004)

30. Sayos, J., C. Wu, M. Morra, N. Wang, X. Zhang, D. Allen, S. van Schaik, L. Notarangelo, R. Geha, M. G. Roncarolo, H. Oettgen, J. E. De Vries, G. Aversa & C. Terhorst: The X-linked lymphoproliferative-disease gene product SAP regulates signals induced through the coreceptor SLAM. *Nature*, 395, 462-9 (1998)

31. Sayos, J., K. B. Nguyen, C. Wu, S. E. Stepp, D. Howie, J. D. Schatzle, V. Kumar, C. A. Biron & C. Terhorst: Potential pathways for regulation of NK and T cell responses: differential X-linked lymphoproliferative syndrome gene product SAP interactions with SLAM and 2B4. *Int Immunol*, 12, 1749-57 (2000)

32. Tangye, S. G., S. Lazetic, E. Woollatt, G. R. Sutherland, L. L. Lanier & J. H. Phillips: Cutting edge: human 2B4, an activating NK cell receptor, recruits the protein tyrosine phosphatase SHP-2 and the adaptor signaling protein SAP. *J Immunol*, 162, 6981-5 (1999)

33. Parolini, S., C. Bottino, M. Falco, R. Augugliaro, S. Giliani, R. Franceschini, H. D. Ochs, H. Wolf, J. Y. Bonnefoy, R. Biassoni, L. Moretta, L. D. Notarangelo & A. Moretta: X-linked lymphoproliferative disease. 2B4 molecules displaying inhibitory rather than activating function are responsible for the inability of natural killer cells to kill Epstein-Barr virus-infected cells. *J Exp Med*, 192, 337-46 (2000)

34. Eissmann, P., L. Beauchamp, J. Wooters, J. C. Tilton, E. O. Long & C. Watzl: Molecular basis for positive and negative signaling by the natural killer cell receptor 2B4 (CD244). *Blood*, 105, 4722-9 (2005)

35. Dupre, L., G. Andolfi, S. G. Tangye, R. Clementi, F. Locatelli, M. Arico, A. Aiuti & M. G. Roncarolo: SAP controls the cytolytic activity of CD8+ T cells against EBV-infected cells. *Blood*, 105, 4383-9 (2005)

36. Orange, J. S., N. Ramesh, E. Remold-O'Donnell, Y. Sasahara, L. Koopman, M. Byrne, F. A. Bonilla, F. S. Rosen, R. S. Geha & J. L. Strominger: Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein is required for NK cell cytotoxicity and colocalizes with actin to NK cell-activating immunologic synapses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 99, 11351-6 (2002)

37. Bossi, G. & G. M. Griffiths: Degranulation plays an essential part in regulating cell surface expression of Fas ligand in T cells and natural killer cells. *Nat Med*, 5, 90-6 (1999)

38. Stinchcombe, J. C., E. Majorovits, G. Bossi, S. Fuller & G. M. Griffiths: Centrosome polarization delivers secretory granules to the immunological synapse. *Nature*, 443, 462-5 (2006)

39. Lieberman, J.: The ABCs of granule-mediated cytotoxicity: new weapons in the arsenal. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 3, 361-70 (2003)

40. Peters, P. J., J. Borst, V. Oorschot, M. Fukuda, O. Krahenbuhl, J. Tschopp, J. W. Slot & H. J. Geuze: Cytotoxic T lymphocyte granules are secretory lysosomes, containing both perforin and granzymes. *J Exp Med*, 173, 1099-109 (1991)

41. Sancho, D., M. C. Montoya, A. Monjas, M. Gordon-Alonso, T. Katagiri, D. Gil, R. Tejedor, B. Alarcon & F. Sanchez-Madrid: TCR engagement induces proline-rich tyrosine kinase-2 (Pyk2) translocation to the T cell-APC interface independently of Pyk2 activity and in an immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif-mediated fashion. *J Immunol*, 169, 292-300 (2002)

42. Ley, S. C., M. Marsh, C. R. Bebbington, K. Proudfoot & P. Jordan: Distinct intracellular localization of Lck and Fyn protein tyrosine kinases in human T lymphocytes. *J Cell Biol*, 125, 639-49 (1994)

43. Herreros, L., J. L. Rodriguez-Fernandez, M. C. Brown, J. L. Alonso-Lebrero, C. Cabanas, F. Sanchez-Madrid, N. Longo, C. E. Turner & P. Sanchez-Mateos: Paxillin localizes to the lymphocyte microtubule organizing center and associates with the microtubule cytoskeleton. *J Biol Chem*, 275, 26436-40 (2000)

44. MacCorkle-Chosnek, R. A., A. VanHooser, D. W. Goodrich, B. R. Brinkley & T. H. Tan: Cell cycle regulation of c-Jun N-terminal kinase activity at the centrosomes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 289, 173-80 (2001)

45. Cannon, J. L., C. M. Labno, G. Bosco, A. Seth, M. H. McGavin, K. A. Siminovitch, M. K. Rosen & J. K. Burkhardt: Wasp recruitment to the T cell:APC contact site occurs independently of Cdc42 activation. *Immunity*, 15, 249-59 (2001)

46. Huby, R. D., G. W. Carlile & S. C. Ley: Interactions between the protein-tyrosine kinase ZAP-70, the protooncoprotein Vav, and tubulin in Jurkat T cells. *J Biol Chem*, 270, 30241-4 (1995)

47. Lowin-Kropf, B., V. S. Shapiro & A. Weiss: Cytoskeletal polarization of T cells is regulated by an immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif-dependent mechanism. *J Cell Biol*, 140, 861-71 (1998)

48. Roda-Navarro, P., M. Vales-Gomez, S. E. Chisholm & H. T. Reyburn: Transfer of NKG2D and MICB at the cytotoxic NK cell immune synapse correlates with a reduction in NK cell cytotoxic function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103, 11258-63 (2006)

49. Giurisato, E., M. Cella, T. Takai, T. Kurosaki, Y. Feng, G. D. Longmore, M. Colonna & A. S. Shaw: Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activation is required to form the NKG2D immunological synapse. *Mol Cell Biol*, 27, 8583-99 (2007)

50. Ogasawara, K., J. A. Hamerman, H. Hsin, S. Chikuma, H. Bour-Jordan, T. Chen, T. Pertel, C. Carnaud, J. A. Bluestone & L. L. Lanier: Impairment of NK cell function by NKG2D modulation in NOD mice. *Immunity*, 18, 41-51 (2003)

51. Egen, J. G. & J. P. Allison: Cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 accumulation in the immunological synapse is regulated by TCR signal strength. *Immunity*, 16, 23-35 (2002)

52. Peters, P. J., H. J. Geuze, H. A. Van der Donk, J. W. Slot, J. M. Griffith, N. J. Stam, H. C. Clevers & J. Borst: Molecules relevant for T cell-target cell interaction are present in cytolytic granules of human T lymphocytes. *Eur J Immunol*, 19, 1469-75 (1989)

53. Peters, P. J., H. J. Geuze, H. A. van der Donk & J. Borst: A new model for lethal hit delivery by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Immunol Today*, 11, 28-32 (1990)

54. Orange, J. S., K. E. Harris, M. M. Andzelm, M. M. Valter, R. S. Geha & J. L. Strominger: The mature activating natural killer cell immunologic synapse is

formed in distinct stages. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 100, 14151-6 (2003)

55. Klem, J., P. C. Verrett, V. Kumar & J. D. Schatzle: 2B4 is constitutively associated with linker for the activation of T cells in glycolipid-enriched microdomains: properties required for 2B4 lytic function. *J Immunol*, 169, 55-62 (2002)

56. Batista, F. D., D. Iber & M. S. Neuberger: B cells acquire antigen from target cells after synapse formation. *Nature*, 411, 489-94 (2001)

57. Carrasco, Y. R., S. J. Fleire, T. Cameron, M. L. Dustin & F. D. Batista: LFA-1/ICAM-1 interaction lowers the threshold of B cell activation by facilitating B cell adhesion and synapse formation. *Immunity*, 20, 589-99 (2004)

58. Andrews, D. M., C. E. Andoniou, A. A. Scalzo, S. L. van Dommelen, M. E. Wallace, M. J. Smyth & M. A. Degli-Esposti: Cross-talk between dendritic cells and natural killer cells in viral infection. *Mol Immunol*, 42, 547-55 (2005)

59. Borg, C., A. Jalil, D. Laderach, K. Maruyama, H. Wakasugi, S. Charrier, B. Ryffel, A. Cambi, C. Figdor, W. Vainchenker, A. Galy, A. Caignard & L. Zitvogel: NK cell activation by dendritic cells (DCs) requires the formation of a synapse leading to IL-12 polarization in DCs. *Blood*, 104, 3267-75 (2004)

60. Bajenoff, M., B. Breart, A. Y. Huang, H. Qi, J. Cazareth, V. M. Braud, R. N. Germain & N. Glaichenhaus: Natural killer cell behavior in lymph nodes revealed by static and real-time imaging. *J Exp Med*, 203, 619-31 (2006)

61. Ferlazzo, G. & C. Munz: NK cell compartments and their activation by dendritic cells. *J Immunol*, 172, 1333-9 (2004)

62. Semino, C., G. Angelini, A. Poggi & A. Rubartelli: NK/iDC interaction results in IL-18 secretion by DCs at the synaptic cleft followed by NK cell activation and release of the DC maturation factor HMGB1. *Blood*, 106, 609-16 (2005)

63. Assarsson, E., T. Kambayashi, C. M. Persson, B. J. Chambers & H. G. Ljunggren: 2B4/CD48-mediated regulation of lymphocyte activation and function. *J Immunol*, 175, 2045-9 (2005)

64. Nedvetzki, S., S. Sowinski, R. A. Eagle, J. Harris, F. Vely, D. Pende, J. Trowsdale, E. Vivier, S. Gordon & D. M. Davis: Reciprocal regulation of human natural killer cells and macrophages associated with distinct immune synapses. *Blood*, 109, 3776-85 (2007)

65. Fassett, M. S., D. M. Davis, M. M. Valter, G. B. Cohen & J. L. Strominger: Signaling at the inhibitory natural killer cell immune synapse regulates lipid raft polarization but

not class I MHC clustering. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98, 14547-52 (2001)

66. Sanni, T. B., M. Masilamani, J. Kabat, J. E. Coligan & F. Borrego: Exclusion of lipid rafts and decreased mobility of CD94/NKG2A receptors at the inhibitory NK cell synapse. *Mol Biol Cell*, 15, 3210-23 (2004)

67. Stebbins, C. C., C. Watzl, D. D. Billadeau, P. J. Leibson, D. N. Burshtyn & E. O. Long: Vav1 dephosphorylation by the tyrosine phosphatase SHP-1 as a mechanism for inhibition of cellular cytotoxicity. *Mol Cell Biol*, 23, 6291-9 (2003)

68. Stinchcombe, J. C. & G. M. Griffiths: Secretory mechanisms in cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol*, 23, 495-517 (2007)

69. Roda-Navarro, P. & H. T. Reyburn: Intercellular protein transfer at the NK cell immune synapse: mechanisms and physiological significance. *Faseb J*, 21, 1636-46 (2007)

70. Davis, D. M.: Intercellular transfer of cell-surface proteins is common and can affect many stages of an immune response. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 7, 238-43 (2007)

71. Hudrisier, D. & P. Bongrand: Intercellular transfer of antigen-presenting cell determinants onto T cells: molecular mechanisms and biological significance. *Faseb J*, 16, 477-86 (2002)

72. Russo, V., D. Zhou, C. Sartirana, P. Rovere, A. Villa, S. Rossini, C. Traversari & C. Bordignon: Acquisition of intact allogeneic human leukocyte antigen molecules by human dendritic cells. *Blood*, 95, 3473-7 (2000)

73. Huang, J. F., Y. Yang, H. Sepulveda, W. Shi, I. Hwang, P. A. Peterson, M. R. Jackson, J. Sprent & Z. Cai: TCR-Mediated internalization of peptide-MHC complexes acquired by T cells. *Science*, 286, 952-4 (1999)

74. Cagan, R. L., H. Kramer, A. C. Hart & S. L. Zipursky: The bride of sevenless and sevenless interaction: internalization of a transmembrane ligand. *Cell*, 69, 393-9 (1992)

75. Tabiasco, J., A. Vercellone, F. Meggetto, D. Hudrisier, P. Brousset & J. J. Fournie: Acquisition of viral receptor by NK cells through immunological synapse. *J Immunol*, 170, 5993-8 (2003)

76. Igakura, T., J. C. Stinchcombe, P. K. Goon, G. P. Taylor, J. N. Weber, G. M. Griffiths, Y. Tanaka, M. Osame & C. R. Bangham: Spread of HTLV-I between lymphocytes by virus-induced polarization of the cytoskeleton. *Science*, 299, 1713-6 (2003)

77. Sowinski, S., C. Jolly, O. Berninghausen, M. A. Purbhoo, A. Chauveau, K. Kohler, S. Oddos, P. Eissmann, F. M. Brodsky, C. Hopkins, B. Onfelt, Q. Sattentau & D. M. Davis: Membrane nanotubes physically connect T cells

over long distances presenting a novel route for HIV-1 transmission. *Nat Cell Biol*, 10, 211-9 (2008)

78. Onfelt, B., S. Nedvetzki, K. Yanagi & D. M. Davis: Cutting edge: Membrane nanotubes connect immune cells. *J Immunol*, 173, 1511-3 (2004)

79. Rustom, A., R. Saffrich, I. Markovic, P. Walther & H. H. Gerdes: Nanotubular highways for intercellular organelle transport. *Science*, 303, 1007-10 (2004)

80. Williams, G. S., L. M. Collinson, J. Brzostek, P. Eissmann, C. R. Almeida, F. E. McCann, D. Burshtyn & D. M. Davis: Membranous structures transfer cell surface proteins across NK cell immune synapses. *Traffic*, 8, 1190-204 (2007)

81. Watkins, S. C. & R. D. Salter: Functional connectivity between immune cells mediated by tunneling nanotubules. *Immunity*, 23, 309-18 (2005)

82. Wouters, F. S., P. J. Verveer & P. I. Bastiaens: Imaging biochemistry inside cells. *Trends Cell Biol*, 11, 203-11 (2001)

83. Verveer, P. J., F. S. Wouters, A. R. Reynolds & P. I. Bastiaens: Quantitative imaging of lateral ErbB1 receptor signal propagation in the plasma membrane. *Science*, 290, 1567-70 (2000)

84. Wouters, F. S. & P. I. Bastiaens: Imaging proteinprotein interactions by fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) microscopy. *Curr Protoc Cell Biol*, Chapter 17, Unit 17 1 (2001)

85. Bastiaens, P. I. & A. Squire: Fluorescence lifetime imaging microscopy: spatial resolution of biochemical processes in the cell. *Trends Cell Biol*, 9, 48-52 (1999)

86. Glebov, O. O. & B. J. Nichols: Lipid raft proteins have a random distribution during localized activation of the T-cell receptor. *Nat Cell Biol*, 6, 238-43 (2004)

87. Axelrod, D.: Total internal reflection fluorescence microscopy in cell biology. *Traffic*, 2, 764-74 (2001)

88. Klar, T. A., S. Jakobs, M. Dyba, A. Egner & S. W. Hell: Fluorescence microscopy with diffraction resolution barrier broken by stimulated emission. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA, 97, 8206-10 (2000)

89. Bacia, K. & P. Schwille: A dynamic view of cellular processes by *in vivo* fluorescence auto- and cross-correlation spectroscopy. *Methods*, 29, 74-85 (2003)

90. Elson, E. L.: Fluorescence correlation spectroscopy measures molecular transport in cells. *Traffic*, 2, 789-96 (2001)

91. Reits, E. A. & J. J. Neefjes: From fixed to FRAP: measuring protein mobility and activity in living cells. *Nat Cell Biol*, 3, E145-7 (2001)

92. Dahan, M., S. Levi, C. Luccardini, P. Rostaing, B. Riveau & A. Triller: Diffusion dynamics of glycine receptors revealed by single-quantum dot tracking. *Science*, 302, 442-5 (2003)

93. Grabenbauer, M., W. J. Geerts, J. Fernadez-Rodriguez, A. Hoenger, A. J. Koster & T. Nilsson: Correlative microscopy and electron tomography of GFP through photooxidation. *Nat Methods*, 2, 857-62 (2005)

94. Barshack, I., J. Kopolovic, Y. Chowers, O. Gileadi, A. Vainshtein, O. Zik & V. Behar: A novel method for "Wet" SEM. *Ultrastruct Pathol*, 28, 29-31 (2004)

95. Zhang, W., R. P. Trible & L. E. Samelson: LAT palmitoylation: its essential role in membrane microdomain targeting and tyrosine phosphorylation during T cell activation. *Immunity*, 9, 239-46 (1998)

96. Tarrant, J. M., L. Robb, A. B. van Spriel & M. D. Wright: Tetraspanins: molecular organisers of the leukocyte surface. *Trends Immunol*, 24, 610-7 (2003)

97. Mittelbrunn, M., M. Yanez-Mo, D. Sancho, A. Ursa & F. Sanchez-Madrid: Cutting edge: dynamic redistribution of tetraspanin CD81 at the central zone of the immune synapse in both T lymphocytes and APC. *J Immunol*, 169, 6691-5 (2002)

98. Choudhuri, K. & P. A. van der Merwe: Molecular mechanisms involved in T cell receptor triggering. *Semin Immunol*, 19, 255-61 (2007)

99. Choudhuri, K., D. Wiseman, M. H. Brown, K. Gould & P. A. van der Merwe: T-cell receptor triggering is critically dependent on the dimensions of its peptide-MHC ligand. *Nature*, 436, 578-82 (2005)

100. Hwang, I. & J. Sprent: Role of the actin cytoskeleton in T cell absorption and internalization of ligands from APC. *J Immunol*, 166, 5099-107 (2001)

101. Barcia, C., C. E. Thomas, J. F. Curtin, G. D. King, K. Wawrowsky, M. Candolfi, W. D. Xiong, C. Liu, K. Kroeger, O. Boyer, J. Kupiec-Weglinski, D. Klatzmann, M. G. Castro & P. R. Lowenstein: *In vivo* mature immunological synapses forming SMACs mediate clearance of virally infected astrocytes from the brain. *J Exp Med*, 203, 2095-107 (2006)

102. Barcia, C., K. Wawrowsky, R. J. Barrett, C. Liu, M. G. Castro & P. R. Lowenstein: *In vivo* Polarization of IFN-{gamma} at Kupfer and Non-Kupfer Immunological Synapses during the Clearance of Virally Infected Brain Cells. *J Immunol*, 180, 1344-1352 (2008)

103. Sjostrom, A., M. Eriksson, C. Cerboni, M. H. Johansson, C. L. Sentman, K. Karre & P. Hoglund: Acquisition of external major histocompatibility complex class I molecules by natural killer cells expressing inhibitory Ly49 receptors. *J Exp Med*, 194, 1519-30 (2001)

Abbreviations: EBV: Epstein-Barr virus; Ig: Immunoglobulin; ITSM: immunoreceptor tyrosine-based switch motif; KIR: killer cell Ig-like receptor; MHC: major histocompatibility complex; SH2: Src-homology 2 domain; XLP: X-linked lymphoproliferative disease

Key Words. NK cell, NK cell receptor, NK cell Immune Synapse, Intracellular Signalling, MCS, Nanotubes, Intercellular Protein Transfer, Review

Send correspondence to: Pedro Roda-Navarro, Department of Systemic Cell Biology, Max Planck Institute of Molecular physiology, Otto-Hahn-Str. 11, D-44227 Dortmund, Germany, Tel: 004902311332204, Fax: 004902311332299, E-mail: pedro.rodanavarro@mpi-dortmund.mpg.de

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol14.htm